No. 43930-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

Rebecca Trebilcock,

Appellant.

Cowlitz County Superior Court Cause No. 11-1-00534-5

The Honorable Judge Michael H. Evans

Appellant's Amended Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund
Manek R. Mistry
Skylar T. Brett
Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY
P.O. Box 6490
Olympia, WA 98507
(360) 339-4870
backlundmistry@gmail.com

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Mrs. Trebilcock's convictions were obtained in violation of her right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment and Wash. Const. art. I, § 3.
2. The trial court erroneously considered improper opinion testimony rather than making an independent determination of the facts.
3. Dr. Tolby invaded the province of the factfinder by expressing a "nearly explicit" opinion on Mrs. Trebilcock's guilt.
4. The trial court improperly imposed an exceptional sentence.
5. The "abuse of trust" aggravating factor applies only to crimes with a *mens rea* of intent, not recklessness.
6. The "ongoing pattern" aggravating factor applies only to certain domestic violence offenses; it does not apply to criminal mistreatment.
7. The exceptional sentence was improperly based on aggravating factors that inhere in first-degree criminal mistreatment.
8. The exceptional sentence violated Mrs. Trebilcock's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because its length was based in part on the judge's religious beliefs.
9. The exceptional sentence was imposed in violation of Mrs. Trebilcock's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to a jury determination of aggravating factors.
10. Mrs. Trebilcock did not waive her right to a jury determination of aggravating factors.
11. Mrs. Trebilcock's conviction was entered in violation of the state constitutional requirement that facts in a felony trial be determined by a jury.
12. The trial court erred by accepting Mrs. Trebilcock's jury waiver without an affirmative showing that she understood all of her rights under Wash. Const. art. I, § 21 and § 22.

13. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact Number 4.
14. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact Number 5.
15. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact Number 6.
16. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact Number 7.
17. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact Number 10.
18. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact Number 11.
19. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact Number 12.
20. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact Number 19.
21. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact Number 33.
22. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact Number 34.
23. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact Number 35.
24. The trial court erred in entering Finding of Fact Number 37.
25. The trial court erred in adopting Conclusion of Law Number 4.
26. The trial court erred in adopting Conclusion of Law Number 5.
27. The trial court erred in adopting Conclusion of Law Number 7.
28. The trial court erred in adopting Conclusion of Law Number 8.
29. The conviction for third-degree criminal mistreatment (count three) violated Mrs. Trebilcock's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process.
30. The conviction for third-degree criminal mistreatment (count three) was based on insufficient evidence.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. A "nearly explicit" opinion on the accused person's guilt violates an accused person's constitutional right to an

independent determination of the facts by the fact-finder. In this case Dr. Tolby was permitted to testify that Mrs. Trebilcock's case was "the worst case of chronic abuse and neglect" of any that he'd seen. Did the opinion testimony invade the province of the fact-finder and violate Mrs. Trebilcock's right to an independent determination of the facts, in violation of her right to due process under the Fourteenth Amendment and Wash. Const. art. I, § 3?

2. A sentencing court exceeds its authority by imposing an exceptional sentence based on inapplicable aggravating factors. In this case, the court based its exceptional sentence on two aggravating factors that do not apply to criminal mistreatment. Must the exceptional sentence be vacated and the case remanded for a new sentencing hearing?
3. An exceptional sentence may not be based on aggravating factors that inhere in the crime charged. Here, the sentencing court based its exceptional sentence for first-degree criminal mistreatment on "abuse of trust" and "ongoing pattern/multiple incidents" aggravating factors. Did the sentencing judge erroneously base the exceptional sentence on factors that inhere in first-degree criminal mistreatment?
4. An exceptional sentence violates due process if it is based in part on the sentencing judge's religious beliefs. Here, the trial court judge referenced his own religious beliefs in setting the length of Mrs. Trebilcock's exceptional sentence. Was the 96-month exceptional sentence impermissibly based in part on the judge's religious beliefs, in violation of Mrs. Trebilcock's Fourteenth Amendment right to due process?
5. An accused person has a constitutional right to a jury determination of facts that increase punishment beyond the standard range. Here, Mrs. Trebilcock waived her right to a jury trial before the prosecution alleged any aggravators, and did not waive her right to a jury determination of aggravating factors after the Information was amended. Did the imposition

of an exceptional sentence based on judicial fact-finding violate Mrs. Trebilcock's right to a jury determination of aggravating factors?

6. Under the state constitution, the parties to a felony prosecution may not dispense with a jury for trial of factual issues. The conviction in this case was entered without a jury determination of the facts. Was the conviction entered in violation of the state constitution's requirement that felony cases be heard by a jury?
7. An accused person's state constitutional right to a jury trial is broader and more highly valued than the corresponding federal right. Here, the record does not affirmatively demonstrate that Mrs. Trebilcock understood her right to help select the jury, to be tried by a fair and impartial jury, and to be presumed innocent by the jury. In the absence of such an affirmative showing, was Mrs. Trebilcock's waiver of her right to a jury trial inadequate under Wash. Const. art. I, § 21 and § 22?
8. A conviction for third-degree criminal mistreatment requires proof of either an imminent risk of substantial bodily harm or the actual infliction of substantial bodily harm. Here, the evidence was insufficient to prove that A.T. suffered substantial bodily harm or that she was placed at imminent risk of such harm. Did Mrs. Trebilcock's conviction for third-degree criminal mistreatment violate her Fourteenth Amendment right to due process because it was based on insufficient evidence?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

I. PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Rebecca Trebilcock and her husband Jeffrey were charged with 13 counts of felony and non-felony Criminal Mistreatment involving their five adopted children. CP 1. Following a bench trial, the couple was acquitted of 11 of the 13 charges. RP 2630-2635. The trial judge also rejected two of the four alleged aggravating factors. RP 2635. Mrs. Trebilcock was sentenced to an exceptional sentence of 96 months in prison, and she appealed. CP 14. The court signed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law nine months after entry of the Judgment and Sentence. Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Supp. CP.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Rebecca and Jeffrey Trebilcock had four biological children, and also served as foster parents. They decided to adopt more children. RP 2167. They first adopted two foster children who were brother and sister. RP 2174, 2345. J.T. and A.T. were born in 1997 and 1999 respectively, and were adopted by the Trebilcocks in 2004. RP 292-3; CP 1-3. Later, the Trebilcocks adopted two more siblings, this time from Haiti. T.T. and

N.T. (born in 1999 and 2001, respectively). RP 296, 626. Finally, they also adopted a third Haitian girl, G.T. RP 883-886, 2345.

The family lived on a large property in rural Cowlitz County. The grounds included a big garden, orchard, farm animals, and a sizable home. Each child had chores, from feeding the goats or chickens to sweeping the porch or cleaning the bathroom. RP 301, 364, 463, 528, 560, 631, 958, 1061-1062. All the children were homeschooled, by the parents as well as a tutor who worked with them weekly. RP 341, 665, 755-763, 914.

The Trebilcocks attended church as a family, went camping often, and took trips together. RP 332-333, 339, 342-343, 385-386, 663-664, 1955. The family had a large circle of supportive friends and family. RP 530-531, 790-791, 989, 1571-1687, 2660-2691.

In March of 2011, J.T. was thirteen years old. The entire family had recently suffered from the flu, and J.T. was particularly unwell. RP 182, 371, 2376. He was quite weak and couldn't walk without stumbling. RP 2376. Rebecca Trebilcock took him to their local pediatric clinic. RP 149, 2376-2380. J.T. was so cold his temperature could not be taken, and he was described as thin, frail, trembling, malnourished and weak. RP 162, 177-179, 409, 412. He was admitted to the hospital, stabilized, and then transferred to a children's intensive care unit for a number of weeks. RP 185, 422.

By the end of March, the Department of Social and Health Services had placed all of the Trebilcock's adopted children in foster care. RP 230. The state charged both parents with one count of Criminal Mistreatment in the First Degree, and four counts of Criminal Mistreatment in the Second Degree. Each adopted child was the subject of one count. Information filed 5/24/11, Supp. CP. The original Information did not allege any aggravating factors. Information filed 5/24/11, Supp. CP.

In June of 2011, Mr. and Mrs. Trebilcock signed a form entitled "Waiver of Jury Trial." Waiver of Jury Trial, Supp. CP. The court reviewed the document with Mrs. Trebilcock:

JUDGE EVANS: Mrs. Trebilcock, your attorney, Mr. Debray, has handed me this document, it's called a waiver of a jury trial. Did -- did you talk about this document with Mr. Debray?

MRS. TREBILCOCK: Yes.

JUDGE EVANS: Did you read over it?

MRS. TREBILCOCK: Yes.

JUDGE EVANS: Okay. So, do you understand that you have the right to have any -- your case heard by twelve of your peers, and that by signing this document and agreeing to this document, you're saying that that's not going to happen, that it'll be a single person, a judge, hearing the case, making a decision? Do you understand that?

MRS. TREBILCOCK: Yes.

JUDGE EVANS: Also with regard to the jury selection process, you would be able to be involved in that process. As questions are being asked, you could give your input to your attorney and determine which jurors you feel would be most favorable to your case, and by -- by waiving your right to a jury trial, you're giving up that right.

MRS. TREBILCOCK: Yes.

JUDGE EVANS: Okay. And do you have any questions about that waiver of the jury trial?

MRS. TREBILCOCK: No.

JUDGE EVANS: And is that something -- is that what you want to do?

MRS. TREBILCOCK: Yes.

RP 61-62.

The court accepted her waiver. RP 62. Neither the written waiver nor the court's colloquy addressed Mrs. Trebilcock's right to a jury determination of any aggravating factors. RP 61-62; Waiver of Jury Trial, Supp. CP.

In July of 2011, the state notified Mrs. Trebilcock of its intent to seek an exceptional sentence, and added four aggravating factors to each felony count. Specifically, the Amended Information added the following language on each felony charge:

. . .and furthermore the state gives notice pursuant to RCW 9.94A.537 of its intent to seek an exceptional sentence above the standard range for the charged offense, and any lesser included offenses, based upon the following aggravating factors: (1) the victim's injuries substantially exceed the level of bodily harm necessary to satisfy the elements of the offense, as provided by RCW 9.94A.535(3)(y); (2) the defendant used his position of trust, confidence, or fiduciary responsibility to facilitate the commission of the current offense, as provided by RCW 9.94A.535(3)(n); (3) the current offense involves domestic violence, as defined in RCW 10.99.020, and one or more of the following was present (a) the offenders conduct during the commission of the current offense manifested deliberate cruelty or intimidation of the victim, as provided by RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h); (b) the offense was part of an ongoing pattern of psychological or physical abuse of the victim manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time. Amended Information filed 7/6/11, Supp. CP.

Mrs. Trebilcock did not execute a waiver of her right to a jury determination of aggravating factors, and no further discussions took place regarding her right to a jury trial. Clerk's Minutes 7/6/11, Supp. CP; *see also* RP 62-145.

A bench trial was held in July of 2012.¹ One of the state's key witnesses at trial was Dr. Blaine Tolby. He had been the family's pediatrician, and had treated J.T. in 2008. He saw J.T. again in March of 2011. RP 1321. The Trebilcocks' attorneys expressed concern that Dr. Tolby (and other state experts) would provide opinions on the ultimate issues at trial, and urged the court to enter a ruling excluding such testimony. RP 1101-1107. Just before Dr. Tolby was called to testify, the defense attorneys renewed their objections. RP 1313-1314. During the prosecution's re-direct examination, Dr. Tolby gave the following testimony:

I would place the severity of this particular case, as being the worst case of chronic abuse and neglect of any that I've seen in my thirty-seven years -- uh -- being a physician, that has not resulted in death of the patient.
RP 1463-1464.

¹ Midway through the three-week trial, the state again amended the charges. The Third Amended Information added four counts of Criminal Mistreatment in the Third Degree and four counts of Criminal Mistreatment in the Fourth Degree. CP 1.

The state presented voluminous and complex evidence to support its theory that the Trebilcocks were negligent parents at best, and at worst purposefully or recklessly failed to appropriately care for their adopted children. RP 146-1546, 2526-2543, 2597-2611.

In the end, the trial judge rejected the vast majority of this evidence, dispensing with 11 of the 13 charges by acquitting Mrs. and Mr. Trebilcock of any alleged criminal mistreatment of T.T., N.T. and G.T., and rejecting the felony mistreatment charge relating to A.T. RP 2631.

In his oral ruling, Judge Evans noted that the parents, who had been foster parents for 14 years, provided a “noble service” to the community. RP 2629. He remarked on the challenges of running a large household:

the Trebilcocks ran an orderly home and that they had a large family and you need to have order when you have a large family. You need to have some pretty fairly stringent rules.
RP 2617.

He found that several of the parents’ decisions were reasonable, like using standing on the porch as punishment, using an alarm system to control the children’s movement in the night, and requiring the rinsing of urine-soaked sheets in a bucket. RP 297-299, 316, 2619, 2622.

Judge Evans rejected the state’s claims that the parents used duct tape on the children’s mouths, failed to adequately clothe them, and didn’t

provide appropriate footwear. RP 298, 330-332, 345, 476-478, 658, 2619, 2623. He also described the parents' desire to avoid involvement with CPS, the police, and certain doctors as "a healthy disdain and kind of a caution." RP 2629.

He stated

the Trebilcocks love their children. I don't there's any question about that. I do think, and I think it's not uncommon, that there tends to be maybe some children that are – are easier to love and don't require as much effort. ... And I think [J.T.] was more of a challenge....
RP 2618-2619.

Judge Evans found that food was the most problematic issue in the Trebilcock household. Mrs. Trebilcock had traveled to Mexico for bariatric surgery, and had expressed her desire that the children not suffer the same problems with weight that had plagued her for much of her life. RP 2621. The judge alluded to the parents' struggle with food issues:

I think -- this is my sense, is that, like many Americans, the Trebilcocks had struggled with their weight. And I think when it becomes -- I think it's really easy to get a warped view of food. I think it's really easy to do. And I think you have to really work on it to be tempered. My sense was that the view of food became distorted and obscured somehow and because is that -- is a temptation, yet it sustains and it's a really tricky combination.
RP 2620.

He noted the consequences of these issues:

And food in our society is -- is a really complex issue. And I think food was used as a carrot and also used as a -- as a punishment. For

example, with chores. If the chores are undone, then you don't eat, or if they are, then you do eat.
RP 2619

Yet, I don't think so when you've got six or so trained medical professionals exercising their own independent medical judgments and they say that food is being withheld and that malnourishment is -- is taking place and that is the reason for the lack of growth.
RP 2628.

Based on these food-related problems, Judge Evans found the Trebilcocks guilty of only two charges: first-degree criminal mistreatment (regarding J.T.), and second-degree criminal mistreatment (regarding A.T.) RP 2631-2634. The court rejected two aggravating factors, declining to find that J.T.'s injuries substantially exceeded the level of harm necessary to prove the offense, and rejecting the suggestion that the Trebilcocks were guilty of domestic violence involving deliberate cruelty toward J.T. RP 2635.

The court endorsed the remaining two aggravating factors on the single felony conviction, finding that both parents abused their position of trust to facilitate the offense against J.T., and that both parents committed a domestic violence offense involving an ongoing pattern of physical abuse manifested by multiple incidents over a prolonged period of time.
RP 2635.

At sentencing, the state sought an exceptional sentence of 102 months. RP 2648-2655. The court imposed an exceptional sentence of 96

months. The court based the length of this sentence on a finding that the three adopted daughters (T.T., N.T., and G.T.) had suffered at the hands of their parents (even though he'd acquitted the Trebilcocks of wrongdoing with respect to these three children). RP 2726.

Judge Evans also quoted scripture prior to pronouncing his sentence:

This is the phrase that some of you may be familiar with: “Which one of you, if his son asks him for bread, will he give them a stone, or if he asks a fish, will he give him serpent?” Your children asked for bread and, for reasons which baffle, literally baffle the bulk of society, you gave them a stone.
RP 2729-2730.

Rebecca Trebilcock timely appealed. CP 23.

ARGUMENT

I. MRS. TREBILCOCK’S CONVICTIONS WERE OBTAINED IN VIOLATION OF HER DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

A. Standard of Review

Alleged constitutional violations are reviewed *de novo*. *McDevitt v. Harborview Med. Ctr.*, No. 85367–3, ___, 291 P.3d 876 (2012). A manifest error affecting a constitutional right may be raised for the first time on review.² RAP 2.5(a)(3).

² The court may also accept review of other issues argued for the first time on appeal, including constitutional errors that are not manifest. RAP 2.5(a); *see State v. Russell*, 171 Wn.2d 118, 122, 249 P.3d 604 (2011).

- B. Mrs. Trebilcock’s convictions violated her constitutional right to an independent determination of the facts because they were based in part on impermissible opinion testimony.

Impermissible opinion testimony on the accused person’s guilt invades “the exclusive province of the finder of fact.” *State v. Black*, 109 Wn.2d 336, 745 P.2d 12 (1987); *see also State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 155 P.3d 125 (2007).³ Such testimony creates a manifest error affecting a constitutional right if it is a “nearly explicit” or “almost explicit” statement by the witness that the witness believes the accused is guilty. *Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 937. The admission of a nearly explicit opinion on the accused person’s guilt may be raised for the first time on review. *Id.*; RAP 2.5(a)(3); *see also State v. Johnson*, 152 Wn. App. 924, 934, 219 P.3d 958 (2009).

To convict Mrs. Trebilcock of first-degree criminal mistreatment, the prosecution was required to prove that she recklessly caused great bodily harm by withholding basic necessities. RCW 9A.42.020. To convict her of third-degree criminal mistreatment, the prosecution was required to prove that she negligently caused substantial bodily harm by withholding basic necessities. RCW 9A.42.035. One of the primary issues

³ Although not clear from the Supreme Court’s opinion, the defendant in *Black* was convicted following a bench trial. *See Black*, 46 Wn. App. at 260.

at trial was Mrs. Trebilcock's mental state: the defense vigorously contested any suggestion that she knew about or understood the harm that was the subject of expert testimony at trial. *See* RP, *generally*.

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