NO. 43930-1-II CONSOL WITH 43950-6-II
Cowlitz Co. Cause NO. 11-1-00533-7/11-1-00534-5

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

**JEFFREY ALLEN TREBILCOCK
REBECCA LYNN TREBILCOCK,**

Appellant.

**AMENDED COVER PAGE
BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

SUSAN I. BAUR
Prosecuting Attorney
JAMES SMITH/WSBA# 35537
Chief Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Office and P. O. Address:
Hall of Justice
312 S. W. First Avenue
Kelso, WA 98626
Telephone: 360/577-3080

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

V. ARGUMENT

I. THE UNOBJECTED ADMISSION OF EXPERT OPINION TESTIMONY DID NOT VIOLATE THE APPELLANTS' RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

The appellant argues her rights to due process and a fair trial were violated by a State's witness, Dr. Blain Tolby, having allegedly testified that, in his opinion, the appellants were guilty. The appellant cites State v. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d 918, 155 P.3d 125 (2007), in support of this argument. However, the testimony at issue did not amount to an opinion as guilt, was not objected to at trial, and, even if improper, was harmless in the context of the entire trial. As such, this Court should reject this claim.

The central issue in the trial was a "battle of the experts" as to the cause and nature of the children's physical and psychological problems. In light of this, earlier in the proceedings the appellants' attorneys raised an initial objection to Dr. Tolby, along with other expert witnesses, offering opinion testimony on the issue of guilt. RP 1101. After hearing the arguments of counsel, the trial court noted that the appellants were free to raise any specific objections they desired, but that expert witnesses would generally be allowed to testify as to their opinions, even if it touched upon an ultimate issue in the case. The trial court noted that experts could not however, express an opinion on guilt. RP 1102-1107.

The appellants claim that trial counsel renewed an objection to Dr. Tolby providing opinion testimony on the issue of guilt immediately prior to his testimony. Brief of R. Trebilcock at 9, citing to RP 1313-1314. This claim is incorrect, as trial counsel actually renewed an objection to Dr. Tolby providing testimony on the issue of fetal alcohol syndrome, not opinions on guilty of innocence. RP 1313-1314.

During the State's redirect examination of Dr. Tolby, the following testimony was elicited:

Q. How would -- how would you -- how would you characterize the severity of this case, Dr. Tolby?

A. I would place the severity of this particular case, as being the worst case of chronic abuse and neglect of any that I've seen in my thirty-seven years -- uh -- being a physician, that has not resulted in death of the patient.

RP 1463-1464. The appellants did not object to this question, or move to strike this testimony. Id.

As regards expert testimony,

[I]t has long been recognized that a qualified expert is competent to express an opinion on a proper subject, even though he thereby expresses an opinion on the ultimate fact to be found by the trier of fact. The mere fact that the opinion of an expert covers an issue which the jury has to pass upon does not call for automatic exclusion.

Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 929. Indeed, "the fact that an opinion encompassing ultimate factual issues *supports* the conclusion that the

defendant is guilty does not make the testimony an improper opinion of guilt.” State v. Hayward, 152 Wn.App 632, 649, 217 P. 3d 354 (2009) (emphasize added); quoting City of Seattle v. Heatley, 70 Wn.App. 573, 579, 854 P2d 658 (1993).

In Hayward, the court held that a medical doctor did not express an opinion as to guilt by testifying that, in his opinion the victim had suffered substantial bodily harm as required for assault in the second degree. 152 Wn.App. at 650-651. The court noted that the physician’s testimony was not an explicit opinion on the defendant’s guilt because it did not include any discussion of the defendant or his role in causing the injury. 152 Wn.App. at 651. Similarly, in Kirkman, the Supreme Court found that a medical doctor did not offer direct opinions on the defendant’s guilt in a child sex case by testifying that the victim’s account was “clear and consistent” and was consistent with the medical findings. 159 Wn.2d 930-34.

In the instant case, the Dr. Tolby’s testimony did not include any opinion on the appellants’ guilt, but simply stated his opinion as to the severity of the abuse and neglect suffered by J.T. Dr. Tolby did not testify that he believed J.T.’s account or that he believed the appellants were guilty of abusing J.T. Though his testimony certainly touched on an

ultimate issue, the causation of J.T.'s condition, it did not amount to an opinion on guilt, as with the opinions in Hayward and Kirkman.

Moreover, the appellants failed to object to Dr. Tolby's testimony at trial, and thus did not preserve this error for appeal. RAP 2.5(a). The appellants argue that this issue is of constitutional magnitude, and is thus reviewable under RAP 2.5(a)(3) as a "manifest error." However, the Supreme Court has repeatedly stated "[t]he exception actually is a narrow one, affording review only of 'certain constitutional questions.'" Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 934-35, citing State v. Scott, 110 Wn.2d 682, 687, 757 P.2d 492 (1998). Only an "explicit or almost explicit" opinion of the defendant's guilt can constitute manifest error. Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 935. In State v. Haq, 166 Wn.App. 221, 268 P.3d 997 (2012), the Court found that testimony by police officers in a multiple murder case that the defendant was "an active shooter who was hunting for people" and that a victim "had been executed" did not meet in this standard. Dr. Tolby's testimony falls far short of the testimony in Haq, which itself did not meet the Kirkman threshold for manifest error. Plainly Dr. Tolby's testimony does not qualify as an "explicit or almost explicit" opinion on the appellant's guilt, and the appellant is thus barred from raising this issue for the first time on appeal.

Finally, for the appellants to raise this issue for the first time on appeal as “manifest error” they must show actual prejudice, and that the error and practical and identifiable consequences in the trial of the case. State v. O’Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99-100, 217 P3d 756 (2009), citing Kirkman, 159 Wn.2d at 935. In context of the entire trial, which the appellants concede included “voluminous and complex evidence” supporting the State’s case, Brief of R. Trebilcock at 10, it cannot be shown that this passing comment by Dr. Tolby had practical and identifiable consequences. For these same reasons, this error, even if considered by the court, would be harmless. See State v. Easter, 130 Wn.2d 228, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996). The harmlessness of the alleged error is only increased by the fact the appellants’ case was tried to the bench rather than a jury, diminishing any chance the finder of fact would be swept away by such a brief statement by one witness.

II. THE APPELLANTS’ EXCEPTIONAL SENTENCE WAS NOT BASED ON IMPERMISSIBLE FACTORS.

The appellants argue the exceptional sentence imposed by the trial court was based on impermissible aggravating factors, and that the trial court violated due process by citing to scripture during the sentencing hearing. However, the aggravating factors used were permissible under the relevant case-law and the facts of this case, and the trial court did not base

its sentencing on religious beliefs. As such, this Court should uphold R. Trebilcock's exceptional sentence.¹

**a. THE "ABUSE OF TRUST"
AGGRAVATING FACTOR IS
APPLICABLE.**

The appellant argues that the "abuse of trust" aggravating factor codified in RCW 9.94A.535(3)(n) does not apply to the appellants conviction because this factor is limited to "purposeful misconduct." The appellants cite to State v. Hylton, 154 Wn.App. 945, 226 P.3d 246 (2010) for this proposition. In Hylton, the defendant was convicted of rape of a child in the third degree under RCW 9A.44.079. The defendant argued the "abuse of trust" aggravating factor could not be used as a basis for an exceptional sentence for this offense, but the appellate court disagreed and affirmed his sentence. 154 Wn.App. at 946.

The appellants seize upon for this passage from Hylton for their argument:

The codified abuse of trust factor is, however, slightly narrower in scope than its common law predecessor. See State v. Chadderton, 119 Wash.2d 390, 398, 832 P.2d 481 (1992) (reckless abuse of trust may operate as an aggravating factor by analogy, rather than strictly under the statute, which by its literal language applies only to purposeful misconduct). Under the statutory language of the 2005 amendment, the factor applies only to purposeful misconduct. RCW 9.94A.535(n).

¹ The trial court did not impose an exceptional sentence from J. Trebilcock, thus the request for resentencing within the standard range does not apply to this appellant.

154 Wn.App at 953. On its face, this statement does not explain what the court means by “purposeful misconduct.” The appellant construes this section to mean the aggravating factor only applies to crimes with a mens rea of intent, and because their convictions require a lesser mens rea the factor is inapplicable.

However, the appellant’s interpretation is immediately undermined by the fact that the defendant in Hylton was convicted of rape of a child in the third degree, an offense for which there is no mens rea requirement. RCW 9A.44.079, WPIC 44.15. If the appellant’s interpretation is correct, the Hylton court would not have applied the aggravator factor to this offense, but yet the court affirmed the exceptional sentence. Given this problem, the correct reading of Hylton is that this aggravating factor only applies if the defendant used the position of trust to facilitate the commission of the offense. At common law, there was no such requirement. Chadderton, 119 Wn.2d at 398; See also 11A WAPRAC WPIC 300.23 (comment recognizing this distinction). Indeed, RCW 9.94A.535 does not at any point limit the application of the enumerated aggravating factors to offenses with any particular mens rea or to “purposeful” crimes, whatever those may be. To the extent the Hylton opinion can be read as holding so, it is in error. The Court should reject this claim.

b. THE “ONGOING PATTERN OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE” AGGRAVATING FACTOR IS APPLICABLE.

The appellants next argue that the “ongoing pattern” aggravating factor does not apply to the instant offenses because criminal mistreatment in the first degree is not included in RCW 10.99.020’s definition of “domestic violence.” The appellant is correct that the “ongoing pattern” aggravating factor is limited to offenses involving domestic violence, as defined by RCW 10.99.020. However, the appellant’s claim that “criminal mistreatment is not a crime of domestic violence under that statute” is totally incorrect. RCW 10.99.020 (5) states: “‘Domestic violence’ *includes but is not limited to* any of the following crimes when committed by one family or household member against another” and then includes a list of specific crimes. (Emphasis added). Contrary to the appellant’s claim, the definition of “Domestic Violence” is not limited to the specifically enumerated crimes. State v. Goodman, 108 Wn.App. 355, 359, 30 P.3d 516 (2001) (Statute provides nonexclusive list of domestic violence crimes). This argument is without merit.

c. THE “ABUSE OF TRUST” FACTOR IS NOT INHERENT TO THE OFFENSE OF CRIMINAL MISTREATMENT IN THE FIRST DEGREE.

The appellant next argues that the aggravating factor for “abuse of trust” set forth in RCW 9.94A.535(3)(n) inheres in the crime of criminal mistreatment in the first degree, RCW 9A.42.020. The State agrees with the appellant that factors that are “inherent” to a particular offense cannot be used as a basis for an exceptional sentence. State v. Ferguson, 142 Wn.2d 631, 649, 15 P.3d 1271 (2001). The rationale behind this rule is the legislature has already accounted for inherent factors in computing the presumptive range for the offense. See State v. Norby, 106 Wn.2d 514, 723 P.2d 1117 (1986). For instance, the “invasion of privacy” aggravating factor, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(p), cannot be the basis for an exceptional sentence for a rape in the first degree that is predicated on unlawful entry into the victim’s residence, as the invasion of privacy is inherent in the offense itself. State v. Post, 59 Wn.App. 389, 400-02, 797 P.2d 1160 (1990).

Here, the trial court found that the appellant had used her “position of trust, confidence, and/or fiduciary responsibility to facilitate the commission of the offenses” under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(n). Supp. CP,

conclusion of law no. 7. The appellant argues that abuse of trust is inherent in the crime of criminal mistreatment, as the statute for this offense requires a degree of trust already. However, what makes this case remarkable, and justifies the use of the “abuse of trust” aggravating factor is the fact that the appellants were not only J.T.’s parents but that the trial court additionally found they had also been specifically entrusted with his care by the State of Washington and the judicial system via their formal adoption of J.T. Supp CP, finding of fact no. 2. The abuse of an adopted child clearly is an unusual and exceptional feature of the instant offense, and is clearly not a standard or typical fact for the offense. Given this unique feature, the trial court correctly applied the “abuse of trust” aggravating factor to the appellant’s sentence.

d. THE “ONGOING PATTERN OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE” FACTOR IS NOT INHERENT TO THE OFFENSE OF CRIMINAL MISTREATMENT IN THE FIRST DEGREE.

The appellant also argues that the “ongoing pattern of domestic violence” aggravating factor, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(h)(i), is inherent in the crime. The appellant argues that criminal mistreatment in the first degree must necessarily be committed over a long period of time. However, this argument is plainly incorrect. A person could commit criminal mistreatment in the first degree by withholding water from a child for

three or four days, by withholding food for two weeks, by exposing a child to elements for only a few hours on a cold night, or by withholding necessary medical care for only a half an hour in the case of a medical emergency.

All of these acts would constitute criminal mistreatment in the first degree if great bodily harm resulted, but none of these scenarios would involve the withholding of food and medical care for seven years that the appellant inflicted on J.T. Supp CP, finding of fact no. 10. Nor does the crime of criminal mistreatment in the first degree necessarily involve the psychological abuse inflicted on J.T. for the same years long period. Supp CP, finding of fact no. 12. The trial court's finding regarding the length and extent of J.T.'s abuse plainly separate this case from a typical case of criminal mistreatment in the first degree, and the legislature did not contemplate a seven year period of prolonged abuse when it determined the standard range for this offense. This Court should hold this aggravating factor is not inherent in the crime, and was correctly used to aggravate the appellant's sentence.

Finally, the trial court expressly indicated in its findings of fact and conclusions of law for the exceptional sentence that would have imposed the same sentence even if only one factor was valid. State's Supp CP. If the sentencing court would have imposed the same sentence for even only

one factor, remand is not required even if another factor is found invalid.

State v. Hooper, 100 Wn.App. 179, 997 P.2d 936 (2000).

e. **THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT BASE
ITS SENTENCE ON RELIGIOUS
BELIEFS.**

Finally, the appellant argues her right to due process at sentencing was violated by the trial court's brief reference to scripture at the sentencing hearing. The full context of the specific statement as at issue is:

At trial, Mrs. Trebilcock testified about being biblically convicted about proper eating and diet. This may be familiar to some -- this phrasing -- and the reason I make mention of this is because I really think it's important to mention and underscore the importance of safeguarding and protecting children in our society and keeping them from harm and offense.

This is the phrase that some of you may be familiar with: "Which one of you, if his son asks him for bread, will he give them a stone, or if he asks a fish, will he give him serpent?" Your children asked for bread and, for reasons which baffle, literally baffle the bulk of society, you gave them a stone.

RP 2730. Though the trial court did not expressly state this quotation was drawn from scripture, the appellants correctly identify this as a reference to Luke 11:11. The appellants cite to United States v. Bakker, 925 F.2d 728, 740 (4th Cir. 1991) for their argument that this passing reference to a bible verse violates due process and necessitates resentencing before a different judge. However, the appellants' arguments misapprehend the

scope and applicability of Bakker, and their claim is ultimately unpersuasive.

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